#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
THOMAS D. HALL
SEP 0 5 2000
CLERK, SOFREME COURT

ድኒኳ የተተ	ì	
PAUL H. EVANS,	)	
Appellant,	Ì	
	)	
vs.	)	CASE NO. SC9640
	)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	>	
	)	
Appellee.	)	
	)	

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender

GARY CALDWELL
Assistant Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Florida Bar No. 256919
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600

Attorney for Paul H. Evans

# **ORIGINAL**

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Paul H. Evans appeals his murder conviction and death sentence in the death of Alan Pfeiffer.

The state's theory was that Alan's 31-year-old wife, Connie Pfeiffer, wanted to kill Alan, her husband, for insurance money. According to this theory, Connie unsuccessfully solicited two persons before a co-worker, 21-year-old Donna Waddell, agreed to commit the murder with her 19-year-old roommate, appellant. Also involved was appellant's girlfriend, 16-year-old Sarah Thomas. Waddell, Thomas and appellant lived in an apartment at a complex called Idlewild in the Vero Beach area.

Around 4:00 a.m. on March 23, 1991, officers found Alan's body in the Pfeiffers' Vero Beach mobile home. Connie, Donna Waddell and appellant were indicted and arrested in 1997. Sarah Thomas was never charged. Donna plead guilty to second degree murder and testified against Connie and appellant in separate trials. Connie was convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to life imprisonment. Appellant's first trial ended in a mistrial when the jury could not agree on a verdict. T 1798-1800. His second trial ended in a mistrial at the end of jury selection. T 2120. At the third trial, the state argued alternatively that appellant shot Alan or abetted the crime by joining in the planning and receiving benefits. The jury found him guilty of first degree murder, and recommended a death sentence by a vote of 9-3. R 411-12.

A. The case as presented in the Complaint Affidavit.

Appellant was indicted August 6, 1997. R 13. On July 21, 1997, Det. John Morrison executed a "Complaint Affidavit", R 2-8, putting the time of the murder as "BET. 2030 AND 2230" on March 23, 1991. R 2. It said officers going to Alan's trailer at #19 Malibu Lane found 'the front door . . . cracked open". R 3. Alan's body was in the living room. Id. A neighbor, Leo Cordary, said that Connie had asked if he knew anyone who would "take care" of Alan - "she wanted him dead". Id.

"Cordary also stated that on the night of the homicide he heard approximately three shots in the evening hours, but could not be sure what time." Id.

Four surrounding neighbors said they heard possible gun shots "between the hours of  $9\!:\!00$  PM and  $10\!:\!30$  PM coming from the area of #I9 Malibu Lane." <u>Id</u>.

"Witness Jesus Cruz stated he definitely heard what he thought to be gun shots between 9:30 PM and 10:30 PM on the night of 03/23/91. Cruz stated he heard three shots in succession. Cruz lived directly across the street from #19 Malibu Lane." Id.

Connie, Donna Waddell, Sarah Thomas and appellant all said they were at the fair on the night of the murder. R 4-5. Connie said she left the fair at 9:00 pm, took her children home, returning to the fair about an hour later. R 4. She and the others stayed at the fair until midnight, when they all went to Denny's to eat, and then to Waddell's home to spend the night. Id.

Donna Waddell said Connie hung around with Greg Hill at the

fair until 9:00 PM, then left to take her kids home and meet Hill.

Id. Connie did not return to the fair until 11. Id. They then went to Denny's, and then to Waddell's home. Id.

Sarah Thomas said they stayed at the fair until 11, then went to get something to eat, and then went home. R 5.

According to the affidavit, appellant said that during the afternoon they all went to the Pfeiffer trailer to wash clothes and borrow some stereo speakers, a stereo and some video tapes. Id. He and Donna returned to the trailer to pick up some more clothes before getting Connie and going to the fair; Sarah was with them. Id. At the fair, he went his own way and met the others when it was time to leave; they went to Denny's before going home. Id.

In June 1997, Sarah Thomas told the police that Connie and appellant had been planning to kill Alan. R 6. Appellant got a camcorder as part payment, and they were all to get money, but Sarah did not want any. Id. Sarah said that on the afternoon of March 23, she, Connie and Waddell went to the trailer to wash and collect clothes, and they left a door unlocked so appellant could later go in to kill Alan; appellant was not present at this time. Id. After they returned to their apartment, Waddell drove appellant to a field near the Pfeiffer trailer, then returned home to take Thomas to the fair. Id. When they went to get appellant around nine, he was not there; they went back to the fair, stayed for a half hour, then returned and picked appellant up; he had a gun in a bag, and changed his clothes. Id. She said appellant

said "It's done, let's go", said he turned the music up very loud to drown out the shots, that he hid in the bedroom, that he was hiding behind something when Alan came in, and he shot Alan three or five times, <u>Id</u>. She said that Waddell and appellant burned his clothes in the bathtub; three days later, Thomas and appellant drove out on S. R. 60, and appellant threw the gun in a canal. <u>Id</u>. She said the gun was stolen from Donna Waddell's father. R 8.

"Sarah Thomas did state that Paul Evans never went to the fair on the night of the homicide, nor did they eat at Denny's." Id. On June 19, 1997, fitted with a body bug, Thomas told Waddell that she had a meeting with the police, and Waddell told her to stick to her original story; when Thomas said, "We helped", Waddell replied:
"I think about it every day, how stupid we were." Id.

B. The case at appellant's 1999 trial. As the state told the jury in opening statement, Connie Pfeiffer was "looking for someone to kill her husband", Alan. T 3117.

She told Susan Cairns, a co-worker, that Alan was very abusive and was cheating on her, that she wished he was dead, she wished he would commit suicide. T 3379. She said she could not divorce him because she needed income from him. T 3375. But there were, she told Cairns, "other things she could do" to get rid of him. <u>Id</u>.

Connie asked Leo Cordary, the neighbor, if he knew anyone who could 'take care of Alan". T 3386. Cordary 'told her that I knew some Jamaican guys that would beat him up because, you know, she wanted - she wanted something done, and I said that I knew the guys

- 4 -

that would do that. And she said, 'No, that's not what I'm talking about.' She said, 'I want the problem taken care of. I want it done with and over.' And I told her, I says, 'I don't do that. I don't - I'm not getting involved in that."' T 3386-87. She said "she would be willing to give a couple thousand dollars and her red Fiero up to have the job done," T 3392.

Connie told Geneva Williams that Alan was abusingher, but said, "if I leave and I divorce him, ... I won't get anything." T

3411. She asked Williams, "Have you ever known of anybody that's had anybody killed for money?" Id.

Connie told another co-worker, Donna Waddell, that she wanted to get rid of her husband. T 3798. She asked about finding somebody to kill him. T 3798-99.

Around 2:30 p.m. on March 23, 1991, Cordary saw Connie drive up to the trailer in her red car. T 3387-88. She said she had just got home from a concert and was moving out. T 3388. Cordary thought Alan's black Trans Am was at the trailer. T 3399. Later that day, Cordary heard slamming sounds in the Pfeiffer trailer; doors were slamming, there was banging around. T 3388-89.

Another trailer park resident, Charles Cannon, testified that

- 5 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This was about eight weeks after Connie's earlier conversation with Cordary. T 3386-87.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Geneva Williams testified to attending a concert in Kissimmee with Connie on the night of March 22, 1991.  $\,^{\rm T}$  3407-3409.

Connie and another woman3 were banging and making noise at the trailer around 2 p.m. T 3488. Preparing to go do laundry, he "noticed across the street in the Pfeiffer trailer two women coming in and out of the trailer repeatedly. And what caught my attention, which made me really watch what they were doing, was that I heard a lot of thumping and slamming. And . . . what they were doing was kicking and throwing theirselves up against the door. thought maybe they couldn't get the door closed."  $^{\rm T}$  3488. what I noticed when I was looking out were two girls at this door, you know, slamming, kicking, pounding on the door. When I noticed the door was closed a few times, and I realized they weren't trying Outside to get the door closed, they were just kind of - " T 3489. the trailer were a red Fiero with its trunk and hood open and a white Grand Am with its trunk open. T 3489-90.4 "And they would go to the cars, go back in the house, come out, slam, kick the door, go to the cars, come back, kick at the door, hit it, go - I mean it was just weird, so I just watched what was going on because I didn't know what they were doing." T 3490. Connie had on black spandex pants. T 3491-92.

When Cannon returned around 4:00, only the Fiero was at the

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Cannon described her as heavy set.  $^{\rm T}$  3491-92. Donna Waddell, who weighed over 200 pounds, T 3810, testified she was at the trailer that afternoon.  $^{\rm T}$  3807-08.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Although Kenneth Mischler, a mechanic, testified that there was nothing wrong with the Fiero, T 3437-38, Connie and Donna Waddell rented a white Grand Am on the afternoon of March 23. T 3315. "The car was rented so Donna's truck would not be seen at the trailer park place there." T 3678 (testimony of Sarah Thomas).

trailer, T 3492-93. Around 5:45 or when the sun was setting, he saw the white Grand Am drive up. T 3494-95. "[The car was facing me. I noticed one girl get out of the car, but there were several people in the car. But I don't remember whether they were male, female, how many there were. I just remember looking across and seeing people in the car. And I was thinking, 'I wonder what's going to happen now,' just because they were pounding at this door. But this was a different girl that got out that I hadn't seen before." T 3495. She had dark hair. T 3495-96. She went to the trailer's north door, "And I believe she knocked at it or was at the door doing something, and then got back in the car and they left. Nobody else got out." T 3496. Cannon went to sleep; when he awoke at 7 p.m. to go to a catering job, very loud music was coming from the Pfeiffer trailer. T 3497-3500.

Alan Pfeiffer was an account manager for a television rental store in Fort Pierce. T 3458. He was at work on the 23rd. T 3459. Around 7:00 or 7:15 p.m., Linda Tustin, his lover, entered the store. T 3476. Alan was on the phone, and was "agitated, aggravated." T 3476-77. When he got off, he said "his wife and her biker friends were going to clean him out." T 3477. Saying he had to go home, he left in his black Trans Am. T 3478-79.

Cordary, who had been drinking steadily since the afternoon, T 3405, 3389-90, heard "all that banging around. And then I heard

<sup>5</sup> In final argument, the state identified her as Sarah Thomas, T 4216, although it is contrary to the testimony of both Thomas and Donna Waddell.

- it was the gunshots, you know, but it was - sounded like it happened back - it was off probably in the back of the trailer or somewhere to the left, But I really thought, you know, maybe it was the - what do they call that - industrial park over there. But later on, after it all settled down and they found out what happened, I realized, yeah, those were gunshots. And it was three shots." T 3390. He watched the trailer's south door for a few minutes, but saw nothing. T 3390-91. At trial, he said this was around 8:00 p.m. T 3390. He had made a sworn statement that he thought he heard the shots around 10:30 or 11. T 3401. He also made a sworn statement that the shooting occurred as it was just getting dark - around 6:30. T 3402-3403.6

Cannon came home from his catering job around 9:30 or 10 p.m. T 3498-3502, 3506. Loud music was still coming from the Pfeiffer trailer. T 3503. He did not remember if he saw any one parked there. T 3506. He had made a sworn statement that he believed the Fiero was there. T 3514. After further questioning at trial, he testified that he thought he <u>did</u> see the Fiero that night. T 3537. He did not remember seeing Alan's TransAm. T 3522.

Alan's trailer was "dark" when Cannon returned that night by the north entrance. T 3506, 3511. He had a clean view of the north side of the Pfeiffer trailer from his trailer. T 3510. It was "dark all over" that area. T 3511. He did not remember seeing

In final argument, the state referred to Cordary as "quite a character", "convicted of numerous felonies". T 4203.

any lights on at all. Id. He went right to bed. T 3506.

The north porch light was on when police officers went to the Pfeiffer trailer around 4 a.m. T 3151, 3169, 3148.7 The light switch was inside, behind the locked north door.8 T 3169, 3148.

The stereo was blaring and the south door was ajar. T 3141, 3190-91. Entering through the south door, officers found Alan Pfeiffer dead from three gunshot wounds. T 3144-45, 3192-93.9

On the dinner table was a torn wedding photo, along with life insurance policies totaling over \$100,000 payable to Connie on Alan's death. T 3300-01. Outside the trailer were Alan's black Trans Am and Connie's red Fiero. T 3196-97.

Near the body was a lipstick-stained marijuana roach. T 3297, 3324-25. Marijuana cigarettes and paraphernalia were found in Connie's Fiero. T 3357-58.

The defense elicited testimony that Alan's body contained cannabanoids, but the court struck the testimony on the state's motion. T 3250-51.

 $<sup>^{7}\,</sup>$  The state introduced into evidence a photograph showing that the light was on when the police arrived. T 3151.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>dagger}$  'It had a dead bolt that was thrown, and also there was a push-button lock." T 3148.

The medical examiner testified that one bullet entered under the right ear, traveling slightly outward and slightly front to back, another entered from the top of the head and passed through the brain, and the third entered the back, going upward through the spine. T 3219. There was no powder or stippling. T 3220. The autopsy showed no signs of a struggle. T 3249-50. Alan died between 3:30 p.m. Saturday and 4:10 a.m. Sunday. T 3257-59.

The police never compared the lipstick on the roach near the body to Connie's or Donna's lipstick. T 3350-51. They performed no test to compare the marijuana in the roach to the marijuana in Connie's car. T 3358. There was no DNA testing of the marijuana roach. T 3325-26. (Donna Waddell testified that she never saw appellant smoke anything; he said he had asthma. T 3872.)

The police never searched the trunk of the Fiero, T 3350, and did not search the white Grand Am until after it had been returned to the rental agency. T 3567.

Black high heel shoes found near the body were never processed for blood; the police gave them to Connie's sister. T 3361-62. Connie was wearing black spandex and high heels on the night of the murder. T 3667 (testimony of Greg Hill).

The police found Connie's fingerprint on a fan light bulb that had been unscrewed. T 3544, 3572-73. They found Donna's fingerprint near the door. T 3348, 3563.

Connie told the police she had been at the Firefighters Fair with Donna Waddell, Sarah Thomas, and appellant; Donna, Sarah, and appellant confirmed her story. T 3320.

Connie's lover, Greg Hill, testified that he met Connie, Connie's two children, and two girls and **a** guy at the fair gate around 6:30 p.m., and that he, Connie and the children split up from the other three. T 3658.

After about three hours, they rejoined the others at the front gate, T 3659. Connie went to take her children to her mother's

house, then met Hill around 10:30 at his parents' condo. T 3659-60. When she arrived, there had been a change in her personality: 'she was noticeably shaken and upset." "She said she was worried about going home." She left around 11:30 to go to a hotel or something; she may have gone back to meet her friends. T 3660.

After Alan's death, Connie bought a \$120,000 horse farm near Ocala while working as a waitress at Cracker Barrel. T 3643, 3650.

Donna Waddell acquired a taxi company. T 3855, 4001. Appellant went to live in an apartment behind a convenience store. T 3644.

Questioned by the police again in 1997, Sarah Thomas implicated herself, Connie Pfeiffer, Donna Waddell, and appellant. The police then spoke with Waddell, who made a statement and agreed to plead guilty to second-degree murder, with sentence to be imposed after the trials of appellant and Connie Pfeiffer.

Thomas9 testified as follows at appellant's trial;

Several weeks before the murder, appellant said Connie wanted to pay him to kill Alan: 'Donna had asked Paul. Connie had asked Donna if she knew of anybody that would do you [sic] do it and Donna had suggested that Paul might." T 3674-75. Paul said he would get a camcorder, a stereo, and half the insurance money; they would all get something. T 3675-76. Thomas and appellant went to a knife store in Melbourne. T 3675.

On the afternoon of March 23, Connie, Waddell, and Thomas went

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> By the time of trial, she had married, and called herself as Sarah Haislip, but she is referred to as Sarah Thomas throughout the trial.

to the Pfeiffer trailer: "Donna was going to leave the door unlocked so Paul could get in later that night." T 3681. They did laundry, picked up clothes and left the north door unlocked. T 3749. They did not use the south door. T 3750. They returned to the Idlewild apartment. T 3682.

Around sundown, after Connie was at the fair, Donna and Thomas 'drove to the trailer, dropped Paul off, and then proceeded to the fair." T 3682-83. If anybody at the fair were to ask about him, "We were to say that he just went off to use the bathroom." Id. They paid for their entry with quarters; Donna "had taken them from her dad's house out of a big jar," T 3684.

Thomas continued: after she and Donna were at the fair for an hour or two, they went to a pick-up spot near the trailer park, but appellant was not there. T 3684. They returned to the fair, and stayed for 30-45 minutes before going back to the pick-up spot; this time appellant was there. T 3687. It was now between 10 and 11 p.m. T 3756. Appellant crawled out of a ditch, climbed into the back seat and said, "Hurry up. Let's go. It's done." T 3691.

(In her 1997 statement, the police asked about a dozen times if he said anything when they picked him up. T 3781-82. The detective said that appellant must have said what happened. T 3778. Finally, the detective said, "Did he say 'I shot him. It's done.'" T 3781. They asked about a couple of dozen more times until, after three and a half hours, she said, 'It could have been, 'It's done."' T 3782.)

Appellant changed his clothes in the car and put them in a brown bag. T 3691-92. He said he hid behind a couch, dimmed the lights, waiting about an hour, an hour and a half for Alan, turning up the music so the neighbors would not hear the shots. T 3692.

Thomas said she did not know about the gun before the murder.

T 3681. They did not dispose of the gun or go out west on Highway 60 that night. T 3757. They did not go out later that night to get rid of the gun. T 3757-58. They went from the trailer to the fair, where they met Connie and her children. T 3692,

Connie took her kids home, then returned to pick up Waddell, Thomas and appellant and they went to Denny's. T 3692-94.

Appellant's clothes were burned in the bathtub at Idlewild. T 3694. A few days later, Thomas and appellant went out on Highway 60 to dispose of the gun. T 3695.

Donna Waddell's testimony agreed with Thomas's in broad terms: they took appellant to the trailer and later picked him up. It varied from Thomas's in details. (See appendix B.)

According to Waddell, Thomas took part in discussions about the murder. T 3799. Connie said there was about \$10,000 in insurance, of which Waddell was to receive \$2000 via appellant. T 3800. Donna was going to hold Alan down while appellant stabbed him; "we went up to Melbourne Mall to one of those knife shops" to get a knife. T 3801. Alan was a big man, and Donna decided she

Waddell testified that she and appellant never got any money, only Connie got any money. T 3904. Appellant got "absolutely nothing" for the murder. T 3877-78.

couldn't hold him down. Id.

On Saturday, Connie, Waddell, and appellant went to the Pfeiffer trailer to make it look like a robbery; they moved some VCR's and Nintendos by the back door so it would look like a robbery. T 3806-07. This was appellant's idea, and he was wearing gloves. T 3807. They were kicking the back door, trying to get it open, and then they had trouble getting it closed. T 3808.

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