IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

\*

CASE NO. 96,404

PAUL H. EVANS,

Appellant,

FILED

DEC 29 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

vs.

## STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

**ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH** Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

LESLIE T. CAMPBELL Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0066631 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

PAUL H. EVANS v. STATE OF FLORIDA

## CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

÷

ĩ

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

<u>Staten</u>, 519 So.2d at 626 (citations omitted). At no time did the State argue Evans was an accessory after the fact; it asserted he was a principal, either as the shooter or one who planned, committed acts to further the homicide, and benefitted from it.

One may be convicted of first-degree murder as a principal and not be the "shooter." <u>Barfield</u>, 402 So.2d at 377 (affirming conviction of contract murder middle-man); <u>San Martin v. State</u>, 705 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 1997) (affirming conviction under both premeditated and felony-murder based on evidence showing numerous shots fired by defendant and co-perpetrators into vehicle killing victim); State

<u>v. Robv</u>, 246 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1971) (reasoning person may be convicted on proof he aided or abetted crime); <u>Fratello v. State</u>, 496 So.2d 903, 910 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) (affirming instruction which permitted jury to convict defendant as aider and abettor if it did not believe he shot victim as it was supported by evidence in spite of defense someone else shot victim). Whether Evans pulled the trigger or planned the crime and received a benefit, he was a principal. It was proper to argue this point to the jury. This Court should affirm.

#### POINT 6

# THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR IN ITS GUILT-PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT (restated).

Evans claims the prosecutor in closing (A) offered personal opinions and utilized the phrase "we know", (B) referenced facts not in evidence, (C) termed evidence "uncontroverted"; (D) argued for guilt under the actual shooter and principal theories, and (E) shifted the burden of proof to the defense (IB 53-55, 59-60). Evans admits he did not object to all the statements<sup>6</sup> and the judge corrected others, but Evans submits he was deprived a fair trial. The State disagrees. The comments objected to were addressed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Evan asks this be overlooked because counsel should not have to object repeatedly (IB 53 n. 25). However, the State's closing commenced on page 4168 and the defense lodged its first objection on page 4200. Here, Evans cites to nine pages and eleven comments before page 4200. <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 294 So.2d 327, 329 (Fla. 1974) was not designed to circumvent the requirement for at least one objection to preserve the matter.

appropriately and the those unpreserved were either not improper or not prejudicial. This Court should affirm.

"Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. [c.o.] Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments." Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. In arguing to a jury "[1]ogical inferences from the 1982). evidence are permissible. Public prosecutors are allowed to advance to the jury all legitimate arguments within the limits of their forensic talents in order to effectuate their enforcement of the criminal laws." Spencer v. State, 133 So.2d 729, 731 (Fla. 1961), cert. denied, 372 U.S. 904 (1963). Control of prosecutorial argument lies within the trial court's sound discretion, and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. See, Esty v. State, 642 So.2d 1074, 1079 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1027 (1995). To preserve a claim of prosecutorial misconduct "the defense must make a specific contemporaneous objection at trial." <u>San Martin v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 462, 467 (Fla. 1998); Ferquson v. State, 417 So.2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982) (finding defendant failed to preserve for review prosecutorial misconduct where only general objection made, followed by motion for mistrial). Where an objection to a comment is sustained, and the defense does not seek a currative instruction or mistrial, the matter is not preserved. Riechmann v. State, 581 So.2d 133, 138-39 n.12 (Fla. 1991). See, Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1990).

Absent a contemporaneous objection, an appellate court will review closing argument comments unless not they constitute fundamental error. See Kilgore v. State, 688 So.2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996) ; <u>Wyatt v. State</u>, 641 So.2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994). Where alleged misconduct is unpreserved, the conviction will not be overturned unless a prosecutor's comment is so prejudicial it vitiates the entire trial. State v. Murrav, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1984). "Any error in prosecutorial comments is harmless, however, if there is no reasonable possibility that those comments affected the verdict." King v. State, 623 So.2d 486, 488 (Fla. 1993) (citing <u>Watts v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 198 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 505 U.S. 1210 (1992) ). Reversal is not required for comments which do not vitiate the whole trial or "inflame the minds and passions of the jurors so that their verdict reflects an emotional response to the crime or the defendant." Bertolotti v. State, 476 So.2d 130, 134 (Fla. 1985). Harmless error analysis applies to prosecutorial misconduct claims. Murray, 443 So.2d at 956.

> "prosecutorial error alone does not warrant automatic reversal of a conviction unless the errors involved are so basic to a fair trial that they can never be treated as harmless. The correct standard of appellate review is whether "the error committed was SO prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." [Cobb v. State, 376 So.2d 230 232 (Fla 1979)]. The appropriate test for whether the error is prejudicial is the "harmless error" rule set forth in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967), and Reversal of the conviction its progeny.... is a separate matter; it is the duty of

appellate courts to consider the record as a whole and to ignore harmless error, including most constitutional violations.

<u>Murray</u>, 443 So.2d at 956. In determining whether an error is harmless, the court must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the comment did not contribute to the guilty verdict. <u>Id.</u>

Here, with the exception of two objections on the basis of facts not in evidence (T 4200, 4219) and the proof necessary under the principal and alibi theories (T 4207-10), Evans failed to preserve the alleged instances of prosecutorial misconduct raised here. He either failed to object or for those where his objection was sustained, seek a curative and mistrial (T 4168-70, 4176, 4178-79, 4181, 4195-96, 4202, 4205, 4206, 4219-20, 4215, 4225, 4228-29; IB 53-59). As such, fundamental error must be shown.

Offering of Personal Opinion and Using Phrase Α. "We Know" Evans complains the State's use of the first-person plural in arguing to the jury was improper. He cites several instances where the State addressed the jury by prefacing the facts with, "we know" (IB 54-56, 58-61; T 4170, 4178, 4181, 4202, 4215, 4228-29). This he combines with a claim that the prosecutor injected her personal belief into the argument (IB 59-60). Not one instance where the State used the word "we", and several where the State used the word "I", drew an objection. Fundamental error, undermining the integrity of the entire trial must be established. <u>Kilqore</u>, 688 So.2d at 898; Murray, 443 So.2d at 956. Where the prosecutor

utilized the word "I" (T 4206, 4225-26), the judge sustained the objection, but Evans failed to seek a curative or a mistrial. As such, this matter also is unpreserved and fundamental error must be shown. <u>Kilaore</u>, 688 So.2d at 898; <u>Murrav</u>, 443 So.2d at 956.

Evans cites <u>Hill v. State</u>, 477 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1985), apparently for the proposition the use of "we" is "especially improper" as it tends to ally the prosecutor with the jury (IB 60). However, <u>Hill</u> is unlike the situation at bar. In <u>Hill</u>, the prosecutor asked the jury to consider him a "thirteenth juror", <u>Id</u>. at 556-57, while here, the State was merely reminding the jury of what was seen and heard in the courtroom. Clearly, when two or more people are aware of and are discussing a fact, it is reasonable to say "we know" the fact. None of the instances where "we know" was used indicates the State was pointing to a fact not in evidence or a reasonable inference drawn from that fact.

Also, there is no support for the theory the State asked the jury to believe it because of its position as prosecutor. Evans' reliance upon <u>Ryan v, State</u>, 457 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); <u>DeFreitas v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 593 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), <u>Gianfrancisco v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 337 (Fla 4th DCA 1990), and <u>Martinez v. State</u>, 761 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 2000) does not further his position. In <u>Ryan</u>, the prosecutor had asked the jury to consider whether it believed law enforcement would spend time and money on the case if it did not believe the defendant guilty. <u>Ryan</u>, 457

So.2d at 1090. The appeals court in <u>DeFreitas</u>, 701 So.2d at 600-02, reversed a conviction where the prosecutor referred to inadmissible evidence as well as an unrelated case and, asked the jurors to put themselves in the position of the victim. Similarly, in <u>Gianfrancisco</u>, 570 So.2d at 338, the improper comment used to bolster another witness' testimony required reversal. In <u>Martinez</u>, 761 So.2d at 1080-81, the use in closing argument of an officer's attested belief in the defendant's guilt leant support to finding the error prejudicial. Here, the State made no such comments or asked the jury to draw such inferences.

In response to Evans' general challenge to the State's use of "we know" in its closing, the State submits the mere use of the phrase "we know" is not prejudicial. As has been recognized in <u>State v. Lewis</u>, 543 So.2d 760 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), a prosecutor's use of phrases such as "we know" and "we saw" does not equate to an injection of his personal beliefs nor misconduct.

... In delivering his closing argument, the prosecutor adopted a conversational tone for reviewing the evidence with the jurors by sayinq "we saw" and "we heard" various evidence. In light of this style, we think it would be obvious to any reasonable juror that the prosecutor's statement that "we know through other testimony the story is a lie" was merely the state's interpretation of the evidence presented at trial. Given the context of the statement, we find no error on this point.

Lewis, 543 So.2d 768. The State's argument here was appropriate. Specifically, Evans challenges the State's argument related to

stealing Mr. Waddell's gun, whether it was the murder weapon, and the number of people involved in the killing (IB 61). In Evans' 1991 statement, he admitted being with Waddell on 3/23/91 at her parent's home (T 4069-70). Waddell admitted she went with Evans to her father's home to get the gun which was used to kill Pfeiffer. The forensic evidence established Pfeiffer was killed with a .38 caliber gun using Nyclad bullets; Mr. Waddell's gun was the same caliber and he had used Nyclad ammunition. Thomas, Waddell, Connie, and Evans were involved in the planning and executing of the homicide. From this, the State argued properly "we know" Evans involved with the theft of the murder weapon and his was compatriots were Thomas, Waddell, and Connie. There was no misconduct, much less, fundamental error. Breedlove, 413 So.2d at 8 (reasoning logical inferences and legitimate arguments may be advance); Spencer, 133 So.2d at 731 (same).

Turning to those instances where Evans claims the prosecutor gave personal opinions, the State submits those instances where no objection was raised should not be considered. <u>Sims v. State</u>, 681 So.2d 1112, 1116-17 (Fla. 1996) (refusing to consider comments where prosecutor called defendant liar, accused counsel of misleading jury, and bolstered attacks on defendant's credibility by expressing personal views and knowledge of extra-record matters, because defense failed to object contemporaneously); <u>Craig v.</u> <u>State</u>, 510 So.2d 857, 864 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020

(1988); <u>Murray</u>, 443 So.2d at 956 (reasoning unpreserved challenges to comments require showing of prejudicial error which vitiates entire trial). Where the defense objections to two comments were sustained, but no curative sought, the comments are unpreserved and not reviewable. <u>Riechmann</u>, 581 So.2d at 138-39 n.12 (finding comments unpreserved where objection was sustained, but neither curative nor mistrial requested).

The first challenged comment relates to the closeness of the accounts given by Waddell and Thomas (IB 56). After identifying the similarities and inconsistencies between the two versions of events the prosecutor stated "Now are these contrived stories? Because if they're contrived or fabricated, I would expect them to match perfectly." (T 4195). Also, the State asserted, "And if they [Thomas and Waddell] had come in here after six and a half years, two individuals, one of them being an alcoholic, and told you the exact same story, then you should be worried. Then I would say there's a chance they fabricated the story." (T 4196). Neither statement drew an objection and neither is an improper personal The State was presenting reasonable inferences which opinion. could have been drawn from the inconsistencies and similarities in the accounts which could help the jury determine credibility. Such is proper and well within a prosecutor's forensic abilities. Breedlove, 413 So.2d at 8 (finding counsel may assert all logical inferences which may be drawn from evidence); Spencer, 133 So.2d at

731 (same). Such comments were not personal opinions nor fundamental error.

The objection to the comment, "...and I seriously doubt [Pfeiffer] was smoking..." (T 4206, IB 57) was sustained, but no further judicial action sought. This hardly could be deemed of such a prejudicial nature to vitiate the entire trial. No reasonable juror would convict on the mere hearing of an opinion as to whether the victim had been smoking just before his death.

The second sustained objection relates to the comment "Now, what about the fact that we have no physical evidence? What I think is more uncanny about this entire event is . .. " (T 4225). Again no curative instruction or mistrial was requested; this Court should find the matter unpreserved and decline to consider it. Sims, 681 So.2d at 1116-17. However, should the merits be reached, the comment did not render Evans' trial unfair. Following the objection, the State continued with its argument, removing the objectionable word "I". (T 4225-26). Such argument merely drew attention to the lack of fingerprint evidence even though Evans had admitted to touching numerous items within the trailer. This was supported by Waddell who explained Evans wore gloves the entire time he staged the scene showing his planning and forethought (T 3806-08, 4012-77). Breedlove, 413 So.2d at 8 (finding all logical inferences may be drawn from evidence).

### B. Allegations of Facts not in Evidence

Asserting error, Evans claims the State "began with an imaginative reconstruction" of Pfeiffer's last acts (IB 53-54). However, no objection was raised. Fundamental error vitiating the entire trial, must be established before he may obtain relief. Kilgore, 688 So.2d at 898; <u>Murray</u>, 443 So.2d at 956.

Here, the record reflects that at 7:30 p.m., leaving for the 30 minute drive home, Pfeiffer rejected an after-work drink with his girlfriend because Connie was cleaning him out. When his body was found, there was mail at his feet, cigarettes near the deadbolted door, and no signs of a struggle. The illumination within the trailer came from a dim light. Between 6:30 and 7:00 p.m. Waddell, Thomas, and Evans left the fair for the nine mile drive to drop Evans at the trailer. After waiting 60 to 90 minutes for Evans, he entered and claimed "it's done." (T 3137-45, 3174-75, 3189-204, 3249-50, 3295-310, 3330, 3346-48, 3474-83, 3543-45, 3562-72. 3806-39, 3927) A reasonable inference is that Pfeiffer's stated purpose for leaving for home would have dissuaded him from stopping for lottery tickets, and because the paddle-fan light had been disabled, he may have turned the porch light on in its place. Moreover, the lack of signs of a struggle suggest the killing took place immediately upon Pfeiffer's entry. The State's un-objected to argument was not improper and not fundamental error. <u>Breedlove</u>, 413 So.2d at 8 (finding counsel may assert logical inferences).

With respect to the argument on the respective positioning of Evans and Pfeiffer during the shooting (IB 57), the judge overruled the objection properly. The State argued Evans bumped into a table, knocking some items, as he stepped from a corner where a beanbag chair was located, and shot Pfeiffer. The judge did not abuse his discretion in denying the objection as the evidence supports the facts and inferences presented. <u>See</u>, <u>Estv</u>, 642 So.2d at 1079 (recognizing control of argument lies within judge's sound discretion); <u>Breedlove</u>, 413 So.2d at 8 (reasoning logical inferences may be drawn and argued by counsel).

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